ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DEVANTE ANTONIO GRANT,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-002158

RECEIVED

NOV 26 2018

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SC Court of Appeals

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred in admitting appellant's videotaped statement to Detective Jarrell where appellant did not say anything inculpatory, and where the court only found the statement admissible because it showed appellant was "playing games," since admitting a videotape because it makes the defendant look bad is an improper basis of admissibility?

2.

Whether the court erred in admitting jail phone calls from appellant where the state made no argument as to their relevance, defense counsel correctly argued they were irrelevant, the calls contained profanity, and the court found the calls admissible merely because appellant received a warning the calls were being recorded, which was error?

3.

Whether the court erred in admitting jail visitation videotapes of appellant and Michael Allen where the content of the conversations was largely incomprehensible, and where the videotapes contained profanity and racial slurs?

4.

Whether the court erred in admitting a letter the state claimed was "probably" written by appellant, which the state claimed showed witness intimidation, where the expert testimony was insufficient to be deemed reliable as to the actual author of the letter, and where the letter did not contain threats or incriminating statements, but did contain profane, racist, and misogynistic language, and the admission allowed the jury to hear other bad character evidence as well?

Whether the court erred in sentencing appellant, a juvenile, to the maximum term of imprisonment for armed robbery where the court's purpose was to send a message "to the street" and make an "example" out of appellant, since the United States Supreme Court has held in *Roper*,¹ *Graham*,² and *Miller*³ that deterrence is not a penological justification in juvenile sentencing?

¹ *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551 (2005).

² *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48 (2010).

³ *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 11, 2016, appellant was indicted by a Charleston County Grand Jury for the offenses of armed robbery and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 819 – 822. His case was called to trial before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis and a jury. R. 8. Megan Ehrlich represented appellant; T. Richard Waring and David Osborne represented the state. R. 8.

The jury returned verdicts of guilty, and Judge Dennis sentenced appellant to incarceration for terms of thirty years for armed robbery, and five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, with sentences to run concurrently. R. 823 – 824.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” *State v. Vick*, 384 S.C. 189, 197, 682 S.E.2d 275, 279 (Ct. App. 2009) (quoting *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001)). The appellate court is “bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” *Id.* (quoting *Wilson*, 345 S.C. at 5-6, 545 S.E.2d at 829). The reviewing court “does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial court’s ruling is supported by any evidence.” *State v. Slocumb*, 412 S.C. 88, 91, 770 S.E.2d 436, 438 (Ct. App. 2015).

“A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.” *In re M.B.H.*, 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010).

“The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Hatcher*, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (quoting *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” *Id.*

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred in admitting appellant's videotaped statement to Detective Jarrell where appellant did not say anything inculpatory, and where the court only found the statement admissible because it showed appellant was "playing games," since admitting a videotape because it makes the defendant look bad is an improper basis of admissibility.

Relevant facts

Appellant was served with arrest warrants for these offenses, and was taken into an interview room by Detective Jarrell. State's exhibit #63 is a video and audio recording of the interview, and is on file with this Court. Detective Jarrell began the interview by asking appellant for biographical information, and appellant answered the detective's questions. The detective seemed skeptical of appellant's answers. Detective Jarrell expressed surprise that appellant did not have a stable address, that he did not have a phone, and that he could not provide his aunt's phone number. Jarrell was surprised appellant was "sleepy" at that time of day.

When the detective began asking questions about the offense, appellant immediately said that he did not want to answer any questions without his mother present. "I don't really want to answer no questions without my mom being present." State's exhibit #63. Instead of discontinuing the interview, the detective read appellant his *Miranda*⁴ rights, appellant verbally responded he understood the rights, and he signed the rights form with his right hand.

The detective expressed consternation that appellant did not seem to know why he was charged, and questioned appellant about his involvement in the offense, asking to hear "your side of the story." Appellant denied involvement in the offense, and when confronted with being

⁴ *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

identified by his codefendant, Saivon Chisholm, appellant said he had not been in contact with Chisholm for a long time. State's exhibit #63,

Jarrell pitted the victim's and Chisholm's statements against appellant's denials. Jarrell grilled appellant: "So you're just going to sit here and deny, deny, deny? Is that your game plan today?" The interview ended when appellant asked to be taken to the jail, said: "You're not supposed to be talking to me without my parent being here," and Jarrell replied: "You're a seventeen-year-old adult." Appellant responded: "I don't feel comfortable speaking to you guys without my parent or my lawyer." State's exhibit #63.

The state first sought only to introduce a muted portion of the video of Detective Jarrell's attempt to interview appellant to show that he signed a *Miranda* warning using his right hand. R. 30, ll. 20-23; R. 131, ll. 10-13. The court ruled that if a letter discussed in Issue 4, *infra*, came in, so could the muted portion of the video, because "it goes to prove [appellant] wrote the letter." R. 31, l. 23 – 32, l. 1. "Why else would somebody fake to be left handed and why else would he be angry about having to write something?" R. 32, ll. 1-4. The court said: "It wouldn't go further than that. And I am not going to allow the video because it would be I think bringing up indirectly that he invoked his right . . . to have counsel. And then [the jury] would infer why did you stop, as typically a lay person would do." R. 33, ll. 1-6.

Later, the state asked to admit the entire video and audio recording up until appellant asked for an attorney. R. 131, ll. 4-6; R. 132, l. 24 – 133, l. 2. The solicitor told the judge that: **"He essentially denies but does give some things that turned out to be false. He says that he hadn't seen the co-defendant Saivon Chisholm in a few months. Mr. Chisholm's . . . mother is prepared to testify that they actually lived together at that time.** So there is some useful

information in there that we think should come in, Your Honor.” R. 133, ll. 11-17 (emphasis added).

Defense counsel objected to the video’s admission. R. 261, ll. 8-24. Counsel argued that appellant stated to Jarrell: “I really don’t want to talk to you without my mother present or something along those lines. I’d argue that’s an assertion of his right to remain silent.” R. 261, ll. 15-18. “He doesn’t have to assert his right to counsel; he just has to assert his right to remain silent.” R. 261, ll. 19-20.

The court stated it was admitting all of the interview up until appellant invoked his right to an attorney. R. 263, ll. 4-5. The court opined that appellant knew how to ask for a lawyer, because he eventually did, and that he was “a savvy young man” who knew he was being videotaped. R. 261, l. 25 – 262, l. 21. “He’s clearly demonstrated he understands what is going on and **he’s playing games in those videos**. That’s my opinion.” R. 262, ll. 21-24 (emphasis added). “I’m developing my own picture of [appellant] **and that will be factored in if he is convicted**.” R. 263, ll. 1-3 (emphasis added).

At trial, the state called Chandra White, codefendant Saivon Chisholm’s mother. R. 313, ll. 16-18. White said she was best friends with appellant’s mother and was married to his first cousin. R. 320, ll. 8-9. White testified that appellant and his mother had lived with them in the past, but that appellant was **not** living with them at the time of his arrest. R. 320, ll. 9-15; R. 321, l. 9-16.

Q. Okay. At the time that [appellant] was arrested was he still residing with you on Forsman [phonetic]?

A. No.

Q. Okay. How long prior to his arrest did he not live on Forsman [phonetic]?

A. I can’t give you an exact timeframe.

Q. Was it days?

A. I can't give you an exact.

R. 321, ll. 9-16.

The solicitor had convinced the judge the statement was admissible because appellant said he had not seen Chisholm in a long time, while Chisholm's mother would testify the two were actually living together. However, Chisholm's mother testified they were not living together. When the solicitor introduced the interview, defense counsel renewed her objection. R. 421, ll. 5-6.

In closing, the solicitor argued appellant's interview was "important information." R. 495, l. 1. **"He says he lives with his mom on Napoleon Drive. Now the problem is Saivon Chisholm's mom testified that in actuality Chisholm and the defendant were living at her house."** R. 495, ll. 4-7 (emphasis added). **"He mentions he hasn't seen Saivon Chisholm in a long time, but in reality they have been living together all along."** R. 495, ll. 16-18 (emphasis added).

In addition to misquoting Chisholm's mother, the solicitor suggested appellant was a liar based on his statement to Jarrell that "he doesn't have a phone. A 17-year-old without a phone. At that day in age that doesn't make any sense. These days everybody has a cell phone." R. 495, ll. 8-11. "When asked what his aunt's cell phone number was he said he can't give that out either." R. 495, ll. 12-13. "All these things add up. It all connects, and they all have meaning. And the meaning is that he committed this crime." R. 495, l. 19-21.

Discussion

The trial court erred in admitting appellant's videotaped statement to Detective Jarrell because it did not contain any admissions by appellant, he had invoked his right to silence, and

the court stated it believed the video was admissible because it showed appellant “playing games.”

A statement by a defendant may be “admissible as an admission against interest by a party opponent.” *Bunch v. Cobb*, 273 S.C. 445, 257 S.E.2d 225 (1979); Rule 801(d)(2), SCRE. An inculpatory statement that relates directly to a defendant’s guilt or innocence may be properly admitted. *State v. Good*, 308 S.C. 313, 316, 417 S.E.2d 643, 645 (Ct. App. 1992).

The use for impeachment purposes of an accused’s post-arrest silence in the wake of *Miranda* warnings is a violation of the Due Process Clause. *Doyle v. Ohio*, 426 U.S. 610, 619 (1976). “When an accused asserts a constitutional right, it is impermissible for the state to comment upon or argue in favor of guilt or punishment based upon his assertion of that right.” *State v. Johnson*, 293 S.C. 321, 323, 360 S.E.2d 317, 319 (1987).

Doyle dealt with commenting on an accused’s silence for impeachment purposes, but the state went farther than commenting here. The state introduced appellant’s videotaped “statement” after he invoked his right to silence and was provided *Miranda* warnings, displaying his demeanor to the jury in an unfair effort to make appellant appear guilty simply because he invoked his rights. The jury heard appellant being read *Miranda*, and Detective Jarrell asking appellant for his “side of the story.” The solicitor capitalized on the prejudice when he exhorted the jury in closing argument to believe that the contents of interview meant that appellant had “committed the crime.”

The solicitor misled the court with his claim that he would show appellant lied about when he last saw his codefendant through Chisholm’s mother’s testimony, since it did not produce this evidence. Chisholm’s mother only said the two had lived together in the past, and could not say how long ago. R. 321, ll. 9-16. The solicitor then erroneously misquoted

Chisholm's mother in closing, unfairly taking further advantage of the statement's admission—an admission that occurred in part because of the solicitor's misrepresentation to the court. R. 495, ll. 4-7; R. 495, ll. 16-18

Petitioner had invoked his right to remain silent, and was read *Miranda* warnings. He did not make any admissions before going on to invoke his right to counsel. The court abused its discretion because the entry of the statement lacked evidentiary support. The statement was not an admission against interest because appellant did not admit to engaging in any criminal acts and denied participating in the crime. He asserted his right to silence and asked for a lawyer. The court's decision to allow the statement in because it showed appellant was "a savvy young man" who was "playing games," was error. Nothing on the videotape related directly to appellant's guilt or innocence, and "playing games" would make appellant look bad, which was not an acceptable basis for admissibility. *Good*, 308 S.C. at 316, 417 S.E.2d at 645; *Johnson*, 293 S.C. at 323, 360 S.E.2d at 319 (1987).

The court erred in admitting jail phone calls from appellant where the state made no argument as to their relevance, defense counsel correctly argued they were irrelevant, the calls contained profanity, and the court found the calls admissible merely because appellant received a warning the calls were being recorded, which was error.

Relevant facts

The state sought to enter jail phone call recordings⁵ between appellant and his mother, and between appellant and Michael Allen, for unspecified reasons. R. 18, ll. 9-12. The state said the calls could be authenticated by Detective Jarrell, because he had interviewed appellant and could identify his voice. R. 19, ll. 6-10. The calls contained profanity, and were confusing and often unintelligible.

Defense counsel objected pre-trial to the calls being entered as evidence. R. 18, ll. 14-21. “For the jail calls themselves I object to relevance and also to whether or not they can authenticate that [appellant] is in fact the person making some of those calls.” R. 18, ll. 14-17. Defense counsel argued that “each call” has to have relevance. R. 18, ll. 19-20.

The judge said that the calls were admissible because on a jail phone “unless they have changed it before he starts talking there is a warning, everything that you say in here can be used.” R. 19, l. 25 – 20, l. 3.

Defense counsel stated the defense was not presenting an alibi defense, and argued that phone calls between appellant and his mother discussing “whether or not he was working that day and could they really prove that he wasn’t at work,” “shifts the burden” to the defense. R. 21, ll. 1-2; R. 20, ll. 13-17; R. 21, ll. 9-10. “I think the jury then is wonder[ing] why aren’t they

⁵ These calls are state’s exhibit #27, which is on file with this Court.

presenting an alibi or why—” R. 21, ll. 18-19. The court said: “It doesn’t shift the burden. He is making the conversation. He is the one that is—he is the one that is introducing that. Not some party out there in the world. It is him.” R. 21, ll. 11-14. “He can testify all he wants.” R. 21, l. 20. A defendant in a criminal case has the right to remain silent and does not have to testify at his trial. *State v. Cockerham*, 294 S.C. 380, 381, 365 S.E.2d 22, 22-23 (1988). The court’s reasoning that appellant could testify in order to explain why he was not presenting an alibi was error, as it impermissibly shifted the burden of proof to appellant. *Lowry v. State*, 376 S.C. 499, 506, 657 S.E.2d 760, 764 (2008).

Defense counsel also argued the inadmissibility of the jail call containing appellant’s mother asking him if he wrote a letter to his codefendant, because appellant’s answer is unintelligible. R. 23, ll. 12-17; R. 24, ll. 3-4. The court stated it would have to listen to the calls and would read the transcripts of the calls provided by the solicitor. R. 24, ll. 12-19.

During its case in chief, the state moved that the calls be admitted into evidence after Detective Jarrell identified appellant’s and Michael Allen’s voices.⁶ R. 402, l. 22 – 403, l. 8. The court said it was admitting the calls “subject to objections previously argued on the record.” The court did not provide its reasoning. R. 403, ll. 13-14. Defense counsel said: “Your Honor, I just renew previously argued—” and the court cut in: “—I’m going to do that.” R. 404, ll. 3-5.

Discussion

The trial court erred in allowing the state to admit confusing, unintelligible, and profanity-laced jail phone calls against appellant by abdicating its discretion—concluding the

⁶ Transcripts of the calls were also provided to the jury to read while they listened to the calls. R. 288, ll. 1-22; R. 573 – 576.

calls were admissible simply because appellant knew he was being recorded. *State v. King*, 422 S.C. 47, 68-69, 810 S.E.2d 18, 29-30 (2017).

In, *King*, the South Carolina Supreme Court found the trial court abused its discretion when it admitted a jail phone call without listening to the call first, and the recording was “riddled with profanity, racial slurs, and impermissible references to [the defendant’s] prior bad acts.” *Id.* The failure to exercise discretion, is itself an abuse of discretion. *State v. Mansfield*, 343 S.C. 66, 86, 538 S.E.2d 257, 267 (Ct. App. 2000). “When the trial judge is vested with discretion, but his ruling reveals no discretion was, in fact, exercised, an error of law has occurred.” *Fontaine v. Peitz*, 291 S.C. 536, 538, 354 S.E.2d 565, 566 (1987).

The trial court failed to make a finding that each call had relevance before allowing the evidence to be admitted. Instead, the court seemed to rely on the fact that jail telephones give the caller a “warning” that the calls are being recorded. The court’s failure to determine each call was relevant before allowing its admission was a failure to exercise the court’s discretionary authority. *Fontaine*, 291 S.C. at 538, 354 S.E.2d at 566.

Moreover, the state may not unconstitutionally shift the burden of proof to a defendant. *See State v. Aleksey*, 343 S.C. 20, 27, 538 S.E.2d 248, 251 (2000); *State v. Needs*, 333 S.C. 134, 155, 508 S.E.2d 857, 868 (1998). Defense counsel argued that admission of the calls with appellant’s mother shifted the burden of proof to the defense to present an alibi, and the court responded by saying that appellant “can testify all he wants,” agreeing that the appellant would in fact have to take the stand and present a defense in order to overcome the evidence. This ruling was error.

The court erred in admitting jail visitation videotapes of Appellant and Michael Allen where the content of the conversations was largely incomprehensible, and where the videotapes contained profanity and racial slurs.

Relevant facts

Jail visitations between inmates and their family or friends are videotaped at the Charleston county jail. R. 272, ll. 1-12. The state wanted to admit two⁷ jail visitation videotapes⁸ of conversations between appellant and Michael Allen in its case in chief. R. 25, ll. 5-18. The solicitor argued the videos were admissible because in one of them “this defendant is telling [Michael Allen] by mouth not to say anything, to keep his mouth shut. And he is saying that they can come back and charge you as an accessory. And I think it is kind of probative because Michael Allen has never been charged and why would he be thinking that—” R. 25, l. 21 – 26, l. 2.

The defense argued the videos were not relevant, and she did not understand why the solicitor would seek to enter them. R. 25, ll. 5-18.

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