ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
R. Markley Dennis, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-002158

RECEIVED
NOV 16 2018
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DEVANTE ANTONIO GRANT,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
OT Wallace Building
Charleston, SC 29401

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

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

Appellant continues the same vague “right to silence” argument on appeal, but does not cite Jackson v. Denno or allege that his statement was involuntary. Indeed, no variation of the word “voluntary” appears in Appellant’s argument. More so, the minimal authority cited by Appellant is irrelevant to the facts of this case. Appellant inexplicably cites Doyle v. Ohio, 426 U.S. 610 (1976), for the proposition that the State may not use a defendant’s post-arrest silence for impeachment purposes, even though Appellant did not testify and was not subjected to cross-examination. Naturally, this issue was not raised at trial. Appellant also cites State v. Johnson, 293 S.C. 321, 360 S.E.2d 317 (1987), for the proposition that the State may not improperly comment on a defendant’s assertion of a constitutional right. Although Appellant moved to suppress the statement, he did not object to any of the prosecutor’s comments or arguments regarding the statement. Trial counsel, whom the court repeatedly praised for her professionalism, presumably did not raise this issue because the prosecutor made no such comments. The prosecutor’s comments about Appellant’s interview emphasized his statements, not his silence. R. 495 (“The defendant’s own interview. Right off the bat the defendant **says some things** that are very interesting.”) (emphasis added). Appellant has not identified any statement by the prosecutor encouraging the jury to draw a negative inference because he “refused to comment.” See State v. Smith, 290 S.C. 393, 395, 350 S.E.2d 923, 924 (1986). Because these arguments were not presented at trial and are not supported by citations to the record, they are not preserved for review. State v. Lopez, 352 S.C. 373, 378, 574 S.E.2d 210,

213 (Ct. App. 2002) (holding an issue must be raised to and ruled upon by the circuit court in order to be considered on appeal).

Appellant has cited no other case in support of his assertions.¹ Appellant has not given this Court the most basic tools needed to assess his claim of error— the applicable rule of law and specific facts implicating the rule. Because Appellant’s argument is excessively vague and does not contain citations to applicable authority, this Court should consider the issue abandoned.

Right to Silence

Even if preserved, Appellant’s arguments are meritless. Trial counsel moved to exclude the recording based on Appellant’s statement that he would prefer his mother to be present for the interview, even though Appellant continued speaking with the investigator after being read his Miranda rights. When Appellant finally did request an attorney, the investigator immediately ended the interview. Recognizing this fact, trial counsel seemed to concede there was no violation of Appellant’s right to counsel, arguing “He doesn’t have to assert his right to counsel. He just has to assert his right to remain silent.” R. 261.

The Constitution does not provide an unqualified “right to silence.” Salinas v. Texas, 570 U.S. 178, 189 (2013) (explaining “[a] witness’ constitutional right to refuse to answer questions depends on his reasons for doing so, and courts need to know those reasons to evaluate the merits of a Fifth Amendment claim”). Trial counsel’s “right to silence” argument was presumably based on the United States Constitution’s Fifth Amendment right against compelled self-incrimination because counsel and the court referred to the hearing as a Jackson v. Denno

¹ As noted above, if Appellant’s argument relies on Rule 403 SCRE, it is not preserved for review because this argument was not raised at trial.

hearing.² However, Appellant has made no showing of (or argument for) involuntariness. There is no argument that Appellant's statements were compelled in any way other than his statement to Detective Jarrell that "I don't really want to answer no questions without my mom being present." State's Exhibit 63. This statement was made as Detective Jarrell began to explain to Appellant his Miranda rights. Detective Jarrell finished explaining Appellant his rights and told Appellant "you can tell me whatever you want to tell me." Detective Jarrell then asked Appellant if he wanted to tell him what happened. Appellant voluntarily responded to the investigator's questions, but chose to give false or evasive answers.

The trial court correctly ruled this did not amount to compelled self-incrimination or denial of counsel. Appellant never invoked his right against self-incrimination, only that he preferred to have his mother present, a request he was not entitled to have granted. Chaney v. Wainwright, 561 F.2d 1129, 1131 (5th Cir. 1977) (denial of "street-wise" seventeen-year-old's request to call his mother did not render his confession involuntary); U. S. ex rel. Riley v. Franzen, 653 F.2d 1153, 1161 (7th Cir. 1981) (sixteen-year-old's request to speak to parent could not "reasonably be construed as an invocation of his Fifth Amendment privilege"). In order to invoke the privilege against self-incrimination, a defendant must do so unambiguously. Berghuis v. Thompkins, 560 U.S. 370, 381 (2010). If an accused makes a statement concerning the privilege against self-incrimination "that is ambiguous or equivocal" or makes no statement, the police are not required to end the interrogation, or ask questions to clarify whether the accused wants to invoke his or her Miranda rights. Id. There is a crucial difference between requesting a non-lawyer third party's presence for questioning and an unequivocal statement refusing to

² Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368, 380 (1964) ("A defendant objecting to the admission of a confession is entitled to a fair hearing in which both the underlying factual issues and the voluntariness of his confession are actually and reliably determined.").

answer police questions. See Fare v. Michael C., 442 U.S. 707, 719 (1979) (recognizing the “unique role the lawyer plays in the adversary system of criminal justice” and holding a defendant’s request to speak with his probation officer did not equate to an invocation of his Fifth Amendment rights). Appellant had extensive experience with law enforcement and the justice system and was capable of deciding whether he desired to have an attorney present before questioning (and later decided he did). See Riley, *supra* (noting juvenile defendant’s experience with law enforcement showed he understood how to invoke his rights).

A person who “desires the protection of the privilege [against self-incrimination] must claim it, or he will not be considered to have been ‘compelled’ to implicate himself.” United States v. Monia, 317 U.S. 424, 427 (1943). “The amendment speaks of compulsion. It does not preclude a witness from testifying voluntarily in matters which may incriminate him.” Id. “If a witness—even one under a general compulsion to testify—answers a question that both he and the government should reasonably expect to incriminate him, the Court need ask only whether the particular disclosure was ‘compelled’ within the meaning of the Fifth Amendment.” Minnesota v. Murphy, 465 U.S. 420, 428 (1984). If a defendant was advised of his Miranda rights, “but nevertheless chose to make a statement,” the statement is admissible as long as the State shows by a preponderance of the evidence that the statement was voluntary. State v. Franklin, 299 S.C. 133, 137, 382 S.E.2d 911, 913 (1989). The voluntariness of Appellant’s statement is patent from the recording itself, wherein Appellant was fully informed of his rights and given a clear opportunity to remain silent. The video constitutes ample evidence to establish the statement’s voluntariness.

Consciousness of Guilt

In making his claim that the State and trial judge were just trying to make him “look bad,” Appellant implies an improper purpose and completely ignores the probative value of his

statement. The whole point of a criminal prosecution is to make a defendant “look bad” (guilty). See United States v. Lentz, 524 F.3d 501, 525 (4th Cir. 2008) (remarking that “all evidence suggesting guilt is prejudicial to a defendant”). Very few criminals look “good” in the eyes of a jury after having incriminating evidence presented against them. But this inconvenient fact does not prohibit the State from introducing relevant evidence to prove its case. As long as the prosecution stays within the bounds of the rules of evidence and the Constitution, it may make the defendant look as bad as it pleases. See Rule 402 SCRE (providing all relevant evidence is admissible unless it violates an evidentiary or constitutional rule). Appellant claims he “did not say anything inculpatory” during the interview, yet ignores the fact that his untruthful statements and sly demeanor made him look guilty. It is true that Appellant did not admit guilt during his interview. But Appellant has cited no case requiring a full confession in order to introduce an incriminating statement.

Evidence of a defendant's consciousness of guilt is highly probative. “No one doubts that the state of mind which we call ‘guilty consciousness’ is perhaps the strongest evidence that the person is indeed the guilty doer[.]” 2 Wigmore, Evidence § 273 (Chadburn rev. 1979) (internal citation omitted). As a general rule, “any guilty act or conduct on the part of the accused is admissible as some evidence of consciousness of guilt.” State v. Orozco, 392 S.C. 212, 218, 708 S.E.2d 227, 230 (Ct. App. 2011), overruled on other grounds by State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016). Specifically, lies and omissions about one’s past conduct strongly suggest a guilty mind. United States v. McDougald, 650 F.2d 532, 533 (4th Cir. 1981) (approving a jury instruction that “an exculpatory statement made by a defendant and found to be untrue could be considered evidence of a defendant's consciousness of guilt”).

When asked his current address, Appellant told Investigator Jarrell he “didn’t really have an address,” but that he stayed with his mother in North Charleston or his aunt in Goose Creek. State’s Exhibit 63. He omitted that he had been living with Saivon Chisolm prior to the robbery.³ He claimed he “was not even in contact with” Saivon Chisolm and hadn’t seen him “in a long time,” but Chisolm told police he was with Appellant when they committed the robbery days before, and Victim identified Appellant as the person with Chisolm during the robbery. He also claimed he did not have a phone and that he only used his mother’s phone to communicate, but he refused to give the officer her number. State’s Exhibit 63. However, in a conversation with his mother, Appellant expressed concern at his mother’s statement that the police “had y’all’s phone records.” R. 574. These statements and omissions strongly suggest Appellant was intentionally misleading and hiding information from the investigator, a consideration relevant to the jury’s determination of guilt.

Appellant also accuses the State of improperly “displaying his demeanor to the jury.” Brief of Appellant 9. Again, Appellant does not provide a legal basis for his argument, though it appears to be based on some combination of the U.S. Constitution’s Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination and Rule 403 SCRE. However, one’s demeanor is probative if it tends to show consciousness of guilt. See Orozco, supra. Appellant has not cited any case supporting his argument that a person has a constitutional right to privacy in their demeanor. Just as demeanor is a crucial factor in the credibility of a witness at trial, it is highly probative in assessing the truthfulness of a recorded statement. Instead of candidly answering the investigator’s questions, Appellant responded with questions of his own, such as “why would I be in West Ashley?” and “how can the victim pick me out when I didn’t even know the victim?”

³ Chisolm’s mother testified Appellant moved out of her house before the incident date, but could not give an exact date.

State's Exhibit 63. This is likely what the trial judge was referring to when he said Appellant was "playing games." The suspiciously unconcerned and evasive demeanor Appellant displayed during his interview is relevant evidence of his consciousness of guilt, and therefore relevant to the ultimate question whether he is guilty of the charged offense.

In conclusion, the State did not comment on Appellant's silence or ask the jury to draw a negative inference therefrom. Quite the opposite, the State commented on his words. Neither was Appellant compelled to answer the investigator's questions. Instead, Appellant "fail[ed] to claim the Fifth Amendment privilege after being suitably warned of his right to remain silent and of the consequences of his failure to assert it." Murphy, 465 U.S. at 430. The State merely pointed out the inculpatory nature of Appellant's statements. If Appellant had actually remained silent, none of these arguments would have been available to the State. Accordingly, the trial court properly refused to exclude the evidence.

II.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting Appellant's jail phone calls, video visits, and a threatening letter written in Appellant's handwriting directed at a cooperating witness because the letter was connected to Appellant and each piece of evidence was relevant to show Appellant's consciousness of guilt.

Appellant claims the trial court erred by admitting a threatening letter sent to a cooperating witness and recordings of his phone calls and video visits with his mother and a friend. Appellant claims the recordings and letter are irrelevant and, because they contain profanity, unfairly prejudicial. Appellant further claims the phone calls and video visits were "often unintelligible" and "largely incomprehensible." Appellant further claims the expert testimony linking Appellant to the letter was unreliable. Appellant's argument that the expert testimony was unreliable is not preserved for review because he did not raise the issue at trial. Regardless, the letter, phone calls and video visits were properly admitted because they contained numerous probative statements showing Appellant's consciousness of guilt. Because there is evidence to support the trial court's ruling that the danger of unfair prejudice did not substantially outweigh the probative value of the evidence, this Court must affirm.

Standard of Review

"The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 57-58 (2011). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law." Id. An appellate court will affirm a trial court's factual findings "if there is any evidence to support the ruling." State v. Brockman, 339 S.C. 57, 66, 528 S.E.2d 661, 666 (2000).

Issue Preservation

To the extent Appellant argues the trial court erred by admitting expert testimony regarding the threatening letter, the issue is not preserved for review. Although Appellant claims the trial court “did not fulfill its gatekeeping function because the expert did not testify to a reasonable degree of professional certainty that Appellant wrote the letter,” Appellant did not object on this basis at trial. Rather, Appellant objected that the letter had not been sufficiently authenticated and was not relevant.⁴ R. 13. The State presented evidence that Saivon Chisolm gave the letter to his mother, who turned the letter over to Chisolm’s attorney, who then gave it to police. R. 315-16; 327-28. Before trial, Appellant questioned “how she got the letter.” R. 13. When the State offered forensic document examiner Gaile Heath as a handwriting expert, Appellant did not object to her qualifications and chose not to engage in any voir dire of Mrs. Heath. R. 353. When the letter was offered into evidence, Appellant merely renewed his pretrial objection to its authenticity (i.e. how Chisolm’s mother “got the letter”) and relevance. R. 358. Appellant never objected to the admissibility of Mrs. Heath’s expert opinion. Because Appellant did not object to Mrs. Heath’s qualifications or the reliability of her testimony, this issue is not preserved for review. State v. Lopez, 352 S.C. 373, 378, 574 S.E.2d 210, 213 (Ct. App. 2002) (holding an issue must be raised to and ruled upon by the circuit court in order to be considered on appeal). The only issue regarding the letter that is preserved is Appellant’s objection to its relevance.

⁴ Appellant has abandoned the authentication issue on appeal because he did not raise it in his brief.

Witness Intimidation Evidence

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